No. 71912-2**-**I

# SC# 93035-0

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE	COUR STAR 2016
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	T OF AF
Respondent, vs	9 MACHT
TRAVIS LEE LILE,	I 4: 46

Petitioner.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION ONE

WILLIAM JOHNSTON Attorney for Petitioner Lile 401 Central Avenue Bellingham, Washington 98225 Phone: 360 676-1931 Fax: 360 676-1510

##

# A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Travis Lee Lile asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

# **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages 1-41.

# C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is petitioner entitled to a new trial automatically because he filed an affidavit of prejudice against Judge Uhrig before any discretionary rulings had been made and Judge Uhrig struck the affidavit and proceeded to deny petitioner's motion to sever counts? Or, as the Court of Appeals ruled, if the properly disqualified judge under RCW 4.12.050 does not preside at the trial, do the rulings made prior to trial by the properly disqualified judge under RCW 4.12.050 stand subject to a harmless error review standard.

2. Is petitioner's right to challenge the efficacy of Judge Uhrig's severance ruling under RCW 4.12.050 subject to waiver because CR 4.4 (A) (2) requires pretrial severance rulings to be renewed at the conclusion of the case.

3. Did the trial court err in refusing to permit evidence of Christopher Rowles' two previous orders of adjudication for domestic violence, after Rowles testified on cross examination that he was not a fighting person on the basis that violence against women is not "fighting."

4. Did the court err in allowing the prosecution to undermine the integrity of defense counsel by insinuating counsel had an underhanded purpose in meeting with defense witnesses.

5. Did the trial court err in allowing the state to develop a bias against the defendant portraying him a violent man prone toward fighting because of his service in the United States Navy by arguing he was a warrior, considered himself to be a warrior and represented himself as a warrior because of a tattoo on his back which was displayed to the jury in the context that the defendant was a warrior. The connation given and intended was that by virtue of his service as a Second Class Petty Officer in the US Navy, the defendant was a warrior and his status as a warrior explained the state's hypothesis as to how the defendant attacked first Christopher Rowles and Taylor Powell and then, a defenseless woman, Amanda Millman.

6. That the prosecutor improperly argued to the jury, over objection by the defense, that the a defense witness Allen Owens testified he would not have thrown a punch if he were in Mr. Lile's shoes.

7. Did the trial court err in not giving defendant a self-defense instruction on the charge of 3<sup>rd</sup> degree assault because Officer Woodward was applying a chokehold.

8. That the trial court erred in denying petitioner's motion for new trial based upon cumulative error doctrine.

### D. STATEMENT OF CASE

1. Procedural History

Petitioner Travis Lile was charged on February 21, 2013 with the crimes of Assault in

the Second Degree of Amanda Millman on February 16, 2013 in Bellingham, two counts

of Assault in the Forth Degree of Taylor Powell, and Christopher Rowles, respectfully,

and also with Assault in the Third Degree of Bellingham Police Officer Jeremy Woodard,

as well as resisting the arrest of Officer Woodward, CP 0006, 0007.

On January 22, 2014, the case came on for status review before Superior Court Judge

Ira Urhig and was continued one week upon agreement of the parties. What transpired is accurately reported in the Court of Appeals opinion.

After striking the affidavit as untimely, Judge Uhrig proceeded to rule on and deny petitioner's motion for severance of counts. Petitioner's severance motion was to sever the counts involving Rowles, Millman and Powell from the counts involving petitioner's flight from the scene of the fight between petitioner and Rowles and Powell and petitioner's later assault on Bellingham Police Officer Woodard at a different location and petitioner's other acts of resisting arrest. If successful, petitioner trial relating to Rowles and Millman<sup>1</sup> would not involve petitioner's flight from the scene and subsequent assault of Officer Woodward.

In the opinion of petitioner's counsel, severance of counts would increase petitioner's chance for an acquittal on the assault charges charges against Rowles and Millman since just how and why the fight started had to be decided by resolution of credibility between petitioner, who had a spotless record, versus Rowles with his domestic assault protection orders adjudications baggage.

2. Statement of the Facts

As was pointed out in the briefing and argument before the Court of Appeals, as it relates to the charges involving Rowles and Millman, this case represents a clear credibility disputed factual controversy pitting Christopher Rowles, the boyfriend of Amanda Millman, Ms. Millman and their two friends, Taylor Powell and his wife, Allsya

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The 4<sup>th</sup> degree assault charge that petitioner had assaulted Taylor Powell was dismissed on the state's motion before trial because Powell could not be sure he was struck by petitioner.

Powell against petitioner Lile and his Navy colleagues and, Cameron Moore, a civilian companion. Officer Jeremy Woodard observed Rowles being punched by Lile from his cruiser at Railroad and Chestnut Streets some 120 feet way, RP 206, lines 12-17, and later observed the fight or encounter from close range. Woodward would be a witness in this case as he testified he observed Lile punch Rowles. But Woodward did not see how the fight started, which came after a bump between first, Lile and Amada Millmand, followed shortly thereafter

by a second bump between Lile and Rowles. After the bump between Lile and Roules, Lile is accused of swinging and the fight started.

Lile makes no claim of insufficiency of evidence. The evidence was sufficient to convict. However, how the fight started was sharply disputed and consisted of Christopher Rowles, Amanda Millman and their friends' version versus Travis Lile and his companions' testimony.

A fair comment is that Taylor Powell and his wife Alyssa Powell had no fair recollection of what transpired before or during the fight. Alyssa testified that she had no memory of being at the Underground Night Club, the premsies from which she left with Amanda Millman holding her because she was to inebriated to be able to walk alone or of the fight which started outside the Underground, RP 344-348. Her husband Taylor's memory was just a tad better. RP 409. Powell did not see Amanda Millman get punched although he told police officers on the night of the incident that he saw Lile punch Rowles or knock Rowles down. Powell freely admitted he was intoxicated, RP423.

Testimony as to how the fight started was contradictory across the board.

The aforementioned is Lile's version of the facts. The point is to demonstrate the thinness of the state's case involving Christopher Rowles and Amanda Millman and to underscore the effect of the court's refusal to permit cross examination of Rowles as to his adjudications of domestic violence against his former girlfriend while at the same time permitting the state to besmirish the character of Lile and his counsel.

## E. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case meets the criteria for review under RAP 13.4 (1) and (4) first and foremost because of the affidavit of prejudice issue. A litigant has the right to exclude any judge upon the timely filing of an Affidavit of Prejudice under RCW 4.12.050. For the first time, an appellate court in Washington has held that a litigant whose right to a different judge is violated is not entitled to a reversal and retrial before an unbiased judge. Rather the Court of Appeals has, as a matter of first impression, announced a new rule. If the disqualified judge only ruled on a pretrial motion, and did not preside at trial, reversal is only required if the ruling was prejudicial and affected the outcome of the trial under a harmless error analysis. The Court of Appeals also ruled that the right of the litigant to challenge the correctness of pretrial rulings is subject to waiver, in the case of severance motions, under CR 4.4 (a) (2). In other words, the Court of Appeals makes no distinction between the review of pretrial orders made by a disqualified judge who, according to case law has no authority to act and no jurisdiction, and the review of any other pretrial order made by the Superior Court.

The parameters of the Court of Appeals interpretation of the scope of RCW 4.12.050 are unclear. The analysis is weak.

The Court of Appeals allows a conviction to stand because it considers the matter of a disqualified judge's ruling, while in violation of RCW 4.12.050, insignificant because the ruling was correct. The Court of Appeals ruling eviscerates the statute's protections because it compromises the statutory guarantee of the litigant's right to disqualify a judge and prevent that judge from ruling on any aspect of his case. The Court of Appeals ruling also invites the prosecutor and the Superior Court to take a cavalier attitude about whether an affidavit of prejudice pursuant RCW 4.12.050 is timely and properly filed when it is known that the pretrial judge will not preside at the trial.

A superior court judge who denies the affidavit's efficacy and then rules on any motion is breaching and denying the defendant's statutory right to a prejudice free adjudicator.

Petitioner is entitled to a new trial automatically because he filed an affidavit of prejudice against Judge Uhrig before any discretionary rulings had been made and Judge Unrig struck the affidavit and proceeded to deny petitioner's motion to sever counts. RCW 4.12.050 reflects the will of the legislature to provide a remedy to ensure that every litigant has the unqualified right to prevent a judge from ruling on any aspect of his case.

For all of the aforementioned reasons, this case qualifies for review under RAP 13.4 (b) (1) and (4).

1. Petitioner is entitled to a new trial automatically because he filed an affidavit of prejudice against Judge Uhrig before any discretionary rulings had been made and Judge Uhrig struck the affidavit and proceeded to deny petitioner's motion to sever counts?

Petitioner contends that RCW 4.12.050 eliminates the authority of a judge to rule on any matter in a case including the non discretionary rulings specified in RCW 4.12.050, i.e., the arrangement of the calendar, the setting of an action, motion or proceeding down for hearing or trial.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that Judge Uhrig did not make a discretionary ruling. The one week Super Bowl continuance constitutes "the arrangement of the calendar, the setting of an action, motion or proceeding down for hearing or trial" under RCW 4.12.05; see State v. Dixon 74 Wn2d 700, 446 P.2d 329 (1968). Having so concluded and recognizing that there is no Washington Appellate court decision where the court improperly struck the affidavit and then rules on and denies a motion by the objecting litigant but did not preside at trial, the Court of Appeals fashioned the rule previously described based solely upon State ex rel LaMon v. Town of Westport, 73 Wn2d 255, 261, 438 P.2d 200 (1968).

LaMon does not support applying a harmless error analysis in the circumstances of this case. The Court of Appeals opinion, relying on LeMon, has created a new rule that denies automatic reversal when the disqualified judge makes a pretrial ruling. LeMon is a slender reed upon which to create such an expansive undefined rule.

The only reason the error was deemed harmless in LeMon is that the individual

who filed the affidavit of prejudice was not a proper party, was dismissed from the action and did not appeal the decision. The LeMon court explained:

It is not every error that is reversible error, however. In the instant case the error complained of, as the colloquy set out above demonstrates, was concurred in, or at least acquiesced in, by appellants. Furthermore, McClendon himself offered no objection and, more important, he has not sought review of the measures taken by the trial court. Appellants agreed in open court that McClendon was an improper party, and appellants offered no objection either when McClendon was dismissed from the action or when the trial court proceeded to hear the cause on the merits, LeMon at 73 Wn2d at 261.

The court rejected appellant's argument that the error made under RCW 4.12.050 is jurisdictional. But the court firmly declared that the statutory right to a change of judge is "a matter of personal privilege and that it is a right to be "scrupulously guarded," LeMon 73 Wn2d at 262.

The reasons which compelled the Supreme Court in LeMon to affirm the judgment despite the error complained of are not present in this instant case. Here petitioner clearly voiced his objection and asserted his own right to challenge to a change of judge as a matter of personal privilege. Unlike in LeMon, he is not trying to obtain relief by asserting someone else's right.

The Court of Appeals seized on the following language in LeMon to reach the result desired: "It is not every error that is reversible error, however." The extended analysis used by the Supreme Court in LeMon affirming the Superior Court judgment was to demonstrate that the Superior Court in proceeding with the trial had subject matter jurisdiction. Petitioner is not challenging the court's constitutional subject matter

jurisdiction. Petitioner invokes well established precedent of this court to argue that Judge Uhrig was "divested of authority" to make any ruling, pretrial or trial in the case. In State v. Cockrell 102 Wn2d 561, 689 P.2d 32 (1984), the Supreme Court's language on this topic was the following:

Once a party timely complies with the terms of these statutes, prejudice is deemed established "and the judge to whom it is directed is divested of authority to proceed further into the merits of the action." *State v.* Dixon, 74 Wash.2d 700, 702, 446 P.2d 329 (1968). Under the plain wording of the rule, the judge loses all jurisdiction over the case, Cockrell at 102 Wn2d at 561.

2. The petitioner's right to challenge the efficacy of Judge Uhrig's severance ruling under RCW 4.12.050 is not subject to waiver because CR 4.4 (A) (2) requires pretrial severance rulings be renewed at the conclusion of the case. The court rule cannot restrain the application of the statute.

The nature of the constraint placed upon the Superior Court by the legislature in passing RCW 4.12.040, 050 and is similar to this issue is discussed in Buecking v. Buecking, 179 Wn.2d 438, 448-49, 316 P.3d 999, 1003-04 (2013). Unlike the ninety (90) day waiting period for divorce, the right to exclude a judge is statutory, not jurisdictional. But unlike in LeMon, petitioner is not raising the issue for the first time on appeal. Petitioner vigorously asserted his right and objected under RCW 4.12.050 when the prosecutor formally moved to strike the affidavit so that Petitioner's severance motion could be heard by Judge Uhrig. The Supreme Court stated the following on restriction of Superior Court jurisdiction by legislative statutes: The legislature cannot restrict the court's jurisdiction where the constitution has specifically granted the court jurisdiction...cases cited. However, generally the legislature can prescribe prerequisites to a court's exercise of constitutionally derived jurisdiction. Buecking 179 Wn2d at 448.

In the instant case, the severance order was entered and given effect even though as a matter of law, the judge lacked authority to sign the order. It cannot be legitimized by the fact that petitioner did not renew the severance motion at the close of the case as is ordinarily required by CR 4.4 (A) (2). The objection made by petitioner was to the authority of Judge Uhrig to act at all, not whether his ruling was erroneous under an abuse of discretion standard. It was precisely to keep Uhrig from using his discretion in making rulings, that petitioner filed his affidavit.

In that regard, had petitioner moved to renew the motion, on what grounds? Petitioner should not be required to preserve the error of Judge Uhrig ruling denying severance of counts by renewing the motion to sever when the real error he is asserting is that Judge Uhrig lacked authority to hear and decide the motion.

3. The trial court erred in refusing to permit evidence of Christopher Rowles' two previous orders of adjudication for domestic violence, after Rowles testified on cross examination that he was not a fighting person on the basis that violence against women is not "fighting."

The Court of Appeals ruling also prohibited petitioner from cross examining Christopher Roules as to this three personal protection actions filed against him, two of which were sustained finding him guilty of domestic assault, after Rowles twice testified on cross examination that he was not a fighting person, Slip Opinion at 19-24. Petitioner

had moved pretrial to admit evidence of these three incidents; the entire court file records with respect to these incidents is found at CP 85- 194.

Petitioner contends the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion because the acts Rowles engaged in did not involve fighting or the same kind of fighting and Rowles's conduct, while sufficient to support a finding that Rowles engaged in domestic assault with a woman, involved a woman girlfriend, and not fighting with a man. Such reasoning is sexist and untenable respectfully in the opinion of petitioner's counsel. Any record of assaultive conduct by a man toward a woman or by a man to a man is logically relevant to impeach a statement that I am not a fighting man.

A poignant remark was made in oral argument by Judge Dwyer, when he intervened in the questioning of petitioner's counsel by Judge Lau, was that the bad acts of Rowles sought to inquired about by the defense involved fighting with woman and thus not relevant to fights with men.

Allowing a criminal defendant involved in a fight controversy, in which the defendant gets a self defense instruction, to stand trial and his adversary, referred to as the victim typically, is permitted to testify that he is not a fighting man twice with three domestic protection orders actions against him, of which two resulted in findings that Rowles engaged in domestic assault, violates the open the door rule of State v. Gefeller

76 Wn2d 449, 458 P.2d 17 (1969) and petitioner's right of confrontation and State v.

York, 28 Wa. App. 33. 621 P.2d 784 (1981).<sup>2</sup>

The analysis of the Court of Appeals concluding that the trial court was acting

within its discretion to prohibit cross-examination on Rowles record for domestic

violence bears scrutiny. The Court of Appeals wrote:

The incident of assault involved a time when Rowles was mad at his thengirlfriend, because someone had texted her, and she would not give him her phone. Rowles allegedly grabbed her arms and wrists, held her on the bed, and prevented her from getting away. Eventually she fell off the bed and hurt her neck. She also stated that Rowles said he would "beat the asses" of two men at her workplace, because she talked to them.

The evidence shows that these instances transpired because of jealousy or because the women had ended the relationship with Rowles. While the evidence suggests that Rowles may be abusive and possessive in romantic relationships, nothing in the evidence indicates that Rowles punched his girlfriends or that he ever fought with a third party stranger.

did not punch back. When pressed as to why he did not punch back, Rowles testified:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> During the cross examination of Christopher Rowles, Rowles testified that profanities were shouted by Lile and his associates toward Amada Millman. When asked whether this (shouting of profanities) caused him concern, Rowles answered:

Q. And did that cause you concern?

A. A little bit. It's words though, I mean they really don't hurt people to a point so I just, I'm not a fighting guy so I just let things kind of roll off my chest here. Report of Proceeding page 528. Ten pages later in the cross examination, Rowles testified he was punched three times by Lile but

Q. A total of three punches?

A. Yes

Q. Are you punching back?

A. No.

Q. Why not?

A. Still in shock. I didn't, I'm not a fighter. I did not want to be a fighter.

Defense counsel raised the matter in the absence of the jury at Report of Proceedings, page 543, "I think twice in his testimony he testified that he does not fight, he's not a fighting man, giving the impression he is a man of peace. We think that opens the door to bring up the harassment incidents because those constitute fighting, those three events."

The prosecutor argued "that the only alleged aggression is he is to have stood up and loomed over her at one point, RP 544, lines 8-10, and that the conduct was not similar enough.

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