A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER 

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner, State of Washington, by Hilary A. 

Thomas, appellate deputy prosecutor for Whatcom County, seeks the 

relief designated in Part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner Lilc has asked this Court to review all of the issues 

decided by the Court of Appeals, Division I, in State v. Lile, ____ Wn. App. 

~' 2016 WL 1562075/785526 (Feb. 29, 2016). The decision initially was 

issued unpublished on Feb. 29, 2016 and then on April 12, 2016 the Court 

of Appeals granted Lile's motion to publish. The decision is attached as 

Appendix A to Lile's petition. As Cross-Petitioner, the State requests if

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

other witnesses, its own calendar, constitutional speedy trial 

considerations, etc. See, e.g., RCW 10.46.085 (court may continue child 

sex abuse cases only for substantial and compelling reasons and only if 

benefit of postponement outweighs detriment to victim). 

There had been a number of continuances in this case, some of 

which the prosecutor had objected to, and the case had been pending over 

8 months when on January 22"d the parties orally agreed to continue the 

trial date one week from Feb. 3rd to Feb. 10111
, due to the Superbowl. CP 6-

8,557-58, 563-68; 1RP 3. When Judge Uhrig found the affidavit of 

prejudice untimely, he noted he had in fact denied agreed continuances in 

the past, although he did so infrequently. 1 RP13-14. The Court of 

Appeals erred in finding the agreed motion for continuance of the trial 

date to be the equivalent of a stipulation and in not applying the general 

rule set forth in Lindquist and Dennison to this case. 

The Court of Appeals, however, did not order a new trial because it 

found that under the unique facts of this case reversal wasn't warranted 

because Judge Uhrig did not preside over the trial. Noting that a properly 

filed affidavit of prejudice divests a judge of authority to act within the 

case, the Court relied on State ex rel. LaMon v. Town of Westport, 73 

Wn.2d 255,438 P.2d 200 (1968), overruled on other grounds by Cole v. 
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Wcbst£r, 103 Wn.2d 280, (1984), in determining that "not every ruling 

made after timely filing of an affidavit of prejudice constitutes reversible 

error." Slip Opinion at 17. Lile asserted he had been prejudiced by the 

fact that Judge Uhrig heard and denied his motion to sever. However, as 

the Court of Appeals found, Lile had waived any error with respect to the 

substance of that ruling by failing to renew his severance motion at trial as 

required by CrR 4.4. The Court of Appeals was correct in finding reversal 

wasn't warranted under the exceptional circumstances of this case. 

2. Lile waived his right to raise the severance issue because he 
failed to renew his motion at or before the close of evidence as 
required by CrR 4.4(a)(2). 

Lile appears to contend that he was not required to comply with 

CrR 4.4(a)(2) because Judge Uhrig ruled on his motion and should have 

been precluded from doing so because of the affidavit of prejudice. This, 

however, was not the argument he made at the Court of Appeals, rather he 

addressed the substance of Judge Uhrig's ruling and argued that he had 

been prejudiced thereby. See, Appellant's Opening Brief at 11-14. He did 

add a sentence at the very end of this argument, asserting that a different 

judge should have heard his motion because of the affidavit of prejudice. 

The Court of Appeals applied settled law in determining that Lile waived 

the ability to contest the issue of severance by failing to renew his motion. 

11 



Lile's waiver of the severance issue does not "legitimize" Judge 

Uhrig's ruling as he contends. CrR 4.4(a) requires that a defendant move 

for severance pretrial and renew that pretrial motion. CrR 4.4(a). Waiver 

is the consequence for failure to do so. CrR 4.4(a)(l), (2) ("Severance is 

waived by failure to renew the motion."); State v. McDaniel, 155 Wn. 

App. 829, 859,230 P.3d 245, rev. den., 169 Wn.2d 1027 (2010). Even if 

it was error for Judge Uhrig to hear the motion to sever, Lile still had an 

obligation to re-raise the motion at trial, no matter who the judge was, or 

the issue would be waived pursuant to CrR 4.4(2). 

3. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining the 
domestic violence allegations in an ex-girlfriend's anti
harassment protection order application were not sufficiently 
similar to a fight between strangers for impeachment. 

Lile asserts the Court of Appeals erred in finding the trial court did 

not abuse its discretion in precluding impeachment of the victim Rowles 

based on actions that were the subject of a protection order regarding an 

ex-girlfriend. Lile does not argue how this issue falls within the 

parameters of RAP 13.4(b). He also has failed to argue how the Court of 

Appeals' analysis of State v. Gefcllcr, 76 Wn.2d 449, 458 P.2d 17 (1969), 

and State v. York, 28 Wn.App. 33, 621 P.2d 784 (1980), was wrong. The 

Court of Appeals did not err in detennining the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in finding that the proffered domestic harassment evidence was 

12 



not sufficiently similar to be probative of either his truthfulness or whether 

Rowles was a "fighter." 

Specific instances of conduct of a witness carmot be proved 

through extrinsic evidence in order to attack the witness's credibility. ER 

608(b ). A witness cannot be impeached on matters that are collateral to 

the issues at trial. State v. Oswalt, 62 Wn.2d 118, 120-21,381 P. 2d 617 

(1963). As noted by the Cowt of Appeals, a trial court may consider 

whether the witness's alleged misconduct is "relevant to the witness's 

veracity on the stand and whether it is germane or relevant to the issues 

presented at trial," in exercising its discretion. Slip Opinion at 21-22, 

citing State v. O'Connor, 155 Wn.2d 335, 349, 119 P.3d 806 (2005). 

Ex. 21, which was the only evidence defense counsel proffered for 

impeachment, relates solely to a petition for an order of protection 1• The 

trial judge reviewed those documents and determined that the accusation 

pertained mainly to Rowles' interfering with his ex-girlfriend's text 

messages and email account and therefore wasn't similar enough to 

impeach Rowles with it. 2RP 548-49, Ex. 21. The documents also 

included a statement from the ex-girlfriend that Rowles had grabbed for 

her wrist, held her on the bed, and had told her he would "beat the asses" 

of two men who had talked with her at work. In her ruling, the judge 
----------------------
1 Lile had sought to have other alleged incidents admitted under ER 404(b) but the trial 
cornt denied that motion and Lile did not pursue that on appeal. 
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specifically noted that she did not interpret the protection order allegations 

as accusing Rowles of fighting. 2RP 549. 

The Court of Appeals agreed with the judge the proffered evidence 

was not sufficiently similar to the facts here which involved strangers. 

The evidence shows these instances transpired because of jealousy 
or because the women had ended the relationship with Rowles. 
While the evidence suggests that Rowles may be abusive and 
possessive in romantic relationships, nothing in the evidence 
indicates that Rowles punched his girlfriends or that he ever fought 
with a third party stranger. 

Slip Opinion at 20. Lile contends that the Court of Appeals decision is 

sexist because it does equate an assault on a woman with an assault on a 

man. The Court found that the acts of harassment that formed the basis of 

the protection order did not include punching. The Court did not find the 

harassment insufficiently similar because it involved a female rather than a 

male, but because Rowles' harassing behavior towards an ex-girlfriend 

was factually different than punching a male stranger. See Slip Opinion at 

24. Moreover, Lile admitted he threw the first punch. 2RP 868-70. 

Lile also asserts this situation was similar because the "impulse of 

possession" and romantic jealousy that Jed to Rowles' acts of domestic 

violence is the same motive Rowles had to start the fight with Lile. Lile, 

however, never requested the trial court to permit the impeachment 

evidence under this theory. At trial, defense counsel asserted he wanted to 
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impeach with the harassment evidence because Rowles had twice stated he 

wasn't a fighter, thereby implying that he was a peaceful person, and that 

he wanted to introduce evidence that Rowles had a harassment order for 

pushing someone down on a bed and getting control over them. 2RP 543-

46. Lile cannot now argue the trial court abused its discretion in denying 

his request on a theory he never presented to the trial court. 

4. Testimony defense witnesses met with defense counsel, failed 
to meet with the police investigator and used similar phrasing 
after they had met together with defense counsel did not 
impugn defense counsel particularly where the judge instructed 
the jUiy not to draw any adverse inferences from the testimony. 

Lile asserts that the Court of Appeals erred in not reversing 

because it stated: "Moreover, the State never made the direct assertion 

explicitly impugning Johnston. And that Johnston coached the defense 

witnesses is not a necessary inference, but a possible inference." Lile does 

not argue how the Court of Appeals misinterpreted or misapplied the 

caselaw or that this issue otherwise falls within the parameters of RCW 

13 .4(b ). He essentially argues that the prejudice from the potential 

inference was so overwhelming to preclude the probative nature of the 

questioning regarding the defense witnesses' lack of cooperation with the 

police and the fact that their stories became similar after they met together 

with defense counsel. Lile fails to mention that the trial court cautioned 

the jury regarding the testimony, limiting their consideration of the 
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testimony for the legitimate purposes of the assessing the witness's 

credibility, and fails to mention that Lile attacked the adequacy ofthe 

investigation. 

The Court of Appeals found United States v. MacDonald, 620 F.2d 

559 (5th Cir. 1980), the main case relied upon by Lile, distinguishable. 

The Court found that instead of implicating his Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel, i.e., implying that Lile was guilty because he exercised his right 

to counsel, the elicited testimony was "used to imply that the main 

witnesses' credibility was questionable, because they had met with each 

other in Johnston's presence and discussed the events of the night before 

giving their statements to [the detective]." Slip Opinion at 39. Lile fails to 

address how this analysis was incorrect. He also does not argue that the 

Court of Appeals was wrong in concluding that the State never made a 

"direct assertion explicitly impugning" counsel. As the State's elicitation 

of testimony and argument did not imply that Lile was guilty because he 

hired an attorney, Lile's Sixth Amendment right was not implicated. 

Lile does not address how the judge's instructions did not cure the 

potential prejudice he was concerned about. In order to establish 

prosecutorial misconduct based on impugning defense counsel, a 

defendant must establish both that the prosecutor's conduct was improper 

and that there is a substantial likelihood that it affected the jury's verdict. 
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~L<:nt:_y_~Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438,442-43,258 P.3d 43 (2011). On 

review, the court determines whether the conduct was improper and 

prejudicial in the context of "the entire record and circumstances at trial." 

Id. at 442. Reversal is not warranted if the improper argument could have 

been obviated by a curative instruction State v. Russell. 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 

882 P.2d 747 (1994). 

The prosecutor here was attempting to elicit information defense 

witnesses met to discuss the case and did discuss the case with one 

another, proper cross examination regarding their credibility and bias. The 

prosecutor was also attempting to explain why the detective had not met 

with witnesses yet. The court limited the questions the prosecutor could 

ask regarding involvement of defense counsel. See, e.g., 2RP 748-49. The 

judge cautioned the jury twice that the purpose of the testimony regarding 

the witnesses' meeting with defense counsel was merely to establish a 

chronology, and should not be interpreted in any other manner. Upon 

defense objection to the prosecutor's question of one defense witness if he 

had changed his mind "[a]fter the visit, after that time interval that elapsed 

when you were talking with" defense counsel, the judge ruled: 

I am going to permit the question because as I understand it this is 
the chronology in time in which the events occurred, but I'm also 
going to instruct the jury that's simply what this is, a discussion of 
the chronology in time when the events occurred and you're not to 
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infer anything beyond the testimony, you're not to infer any causal 
connection that you don't hear testimony or other evidence about. 

2RP 752-53. The judge also cautioned the jury again in closing when 

defense counsel objected to the prosecutor's argument the defense 

witnesses started using same terminology regarding the contact between 

Rowles and Lile after they had gone together to sec defense counsel. 

Although the prosecutor revised his argument to state "after the 

interview," the judge also instructed the jury: 

... witnesses and parties meet with lawyers frequently in the 
development of a case so the fact that a witness or lawyer met with 
another lawyer is not to be taken by you to make an adverse 
inference against anybody. 

2RP 1095-97. 

The actual testimony heard by the jury in this case did not impugn 

defense counsel. Whatever prejudice regarding disparagement defense 

counsel perceived was cured by the judge's instructions to the jury. Lile 

has failed to demonstrate how the Court of Appeals analysis was 

erroneous or how this issue warrants further review. 

5. The issue regarding the State's cross-examination of the 
defendant does not merit further review because it was 
inadequately briefed below. 

Lile provides no argument as to why the Court of Appeals erred in 

its analysis regarding the discretionary evidentiary issue regarding the 

"warrior" cross-examination and has thus failed to demonstrate how this 
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issue warrants review under RAP 13 .4(b ). The Court of Appeals failed to 

address this issue on review because Lile argued on appeal a difierent 

evidentiary theory, ER 404(b), than that which had been raised at the trial 

court, which had been relevance. It also refused to address Lile's 

argument on this issue further because he failed to set forth argument 

containing citations to legal authority. Lile still has failed to provide any 

sufficient legal argument with citations to legal authority.2 

6. The issue regarding improper closing argument does not merit 
further review because it was inadequately briefed below. 

Lile states that he is relying on his briefing at the Court of Appeals in 

seeking further review on the issue of improper closing argument in case 

the case is remanded for a new trial. The Court of Appeals refused to 

address this issue because Lile had inadequately briefed it. The State 

conceded on appeal that the testimony referred to in closing had not 

actually been admitted (there had been a redacted video-taped deposition 

of one defense witness that had been admitted into evidence since he was 

unavailable for trial). There shouldn't be any reason the court would need 

to address this issue solely because of the potential that a new trial may be 

ordered. Lile still has failed to provide sufficient legal authority to merit 

review of this issue. 

2 The Court of Appeals set forth the full context in which the prosecutor sought to elicit 
testimony regarding Lile's consideration of himself as a "warrior." It also sets forth the 
prosecutor's rationale for this line of questioning. See Slip Opinion at 24-27. 
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7. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate the Court of Appeals erred 
in its analysis, or that further review is warranted, regarding the 
court's denial of the request for self-defense instructions. 

Lile seeks to incorporate the argument from his Court of Appeals 

briefing into his petition for review on the issues of whether the trial court 

erred in denying his requested self defense instruction and cumulative 

error. The Supreme Court does not address issues based solely on 

incorporated arguments in petitions for review. State v. Sublett, 176 

Wn.2d 58, 68 n.2, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). Lile has failed to demonstrate 

how the Court of Appeals analysis on these issues is erroneous and failed 

to demonstrate they warrant further review. 

F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, Cross-Petitioner, State of 

Washington, respectfully requests that this Court accept discretionary 

review of the Court of Appeals finding that the judge's granting of the 

agreed motion to continue the trial date was not a discretionary decision 

under RCW 4.12.050 should this Court accept review ofLile's affidavit of 

prejudice issue. The State otherwise requests this Court deny review. 

tv--